CHAPTER SIX

FEDERAL REGULATION

FEDERAL REGULATION ...ttt sttt sttt st nbe e st nbe e sineenneas 1
B T Fed 111 5] 1 L PP PPRPP PP 1
R (0] Y PP POTTPPPPR 1
Regulation ENfOrCEMENT ........ooeiiiie it 3
Complant and INVESHIGAEION ........ooiuiiiiieiieeie et 4
ENfOrCEMEN PrOCEAUIE .........eiee ettt e e e e nnnee e e 4
CiVil Penalty ProCEAUNE ..........ooiieiiieiiie et 4
AASRP et e et e ettt e e te e e e e reeanreenneeeneennes 5
WHEN INDOUBDL ... e e e nn e e nneas 5
Examples of FAA INTEPrefalions .........coooueeiiiieeiiiee i 5
EQUEl ACCESSTO JUSLICE ....eeeeuiieeeiiiecciee ettt e e ettt e e e e e e e enneeeenneeeenns 7
[0 To T = (] o SRS 7
MediCal CErtifICALES .....cccviieiiiee e e e e e e e e aeeeenns 7
PART 13 table Of CONENLS ......ocoieieeee e e e 6
NTSB PART 821 table of CONLEANLS ........c.ooeiiiieeiiee e 8
CASES # LWahner V EAA et e e e e e e e e e e 10

# 2 Borregard v. National Transp. Safety Bd. ........cccoceeiiiiiinin e
.......................................................................................................................... 13

........................................................................................ # 3 Fergurson v. FAA
.......................................................................................................................... 16

Assignment

The following story has been around for at least 30 years. | first saw it in Flying
magazine in the “I learned about flying from that” section Try identifying each violation of
FAR part 61 and 91 that occurred in this story, listing each FAR section, subsection etc, with a
short description of what was donewrong as compared to what was required.

Letter to the FAA
Federal Aviation Agency, Washington 25, D.C.
Gentlemen:

| was asked to make a written statement concerning certain events that occurred
yesterday. First of al, | would like to thank that very nice FAA man who took my student pilot's
license and told me | wouldn't need it any nore. | guess that means that you're giving me my
full _fledged pilot's license You should watch that fellow though, after | told him dl of this he
seemed quite nervous and his hand was shaking. Anyway, here is wha happened.

The weather had been kind of bad since last week, when | soloed. But on the day in
guedion | was not about to let low celings and vighility, and a dight freezing drizzle, deter me
from another exciting experience at the controls of an arplare. | was pretty proud of my
accomplishment, and | had invited my neighbor to go with me since | planned to fly to a town
about two hundred miles away where | knew of an excellent restaurant that served absolutely
wonderful charcoaled steaks and the greatest martinis.

On the way to the arport my neighbor was a little concerned about the weather but |
assured him once again about the sesks and martinis that we would soon be enjoying and he
seemed much happier.

When we arrived at the airport the freezing drizae had stopped, as | already knew from
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my ground school meteorology it would. There were only a few snow flakes. | checked the
weather and | was assured that it was solid IFR. | was delighted. But when | talked to the local
operator | found out that my regular arplane, aPiper J_4 Cub, was down for repairs. You could
imagine my disappointment. Just then a friendly, intelligent line boy suggested that | take
another airplane, which | immediately saw was very sleek and looked much easier to fly. | think
that he caled it a Aztec C, also made by Piper. | didnt have a tail wheel, but | didn't say
anything because | wasin ahurry. Oh yes, it had a spare engine for some reason.

We clinmbed in and | began looking for an ignition switch. Now, | dont want to get

anyone in trouble, but it shouldn't be necessary to get the airplane manud just to find out how to
start an airplane. That's ridiculous. | never saw sow many dials and needles and knobs, handles
and switches. As we both know, confidentialy, they have smplified thisin the J 4 Cub. | forgot
to mention that | did file a flight plan, and those people were so nice. When | told them | was
flying an Aztec they said it was dl right to go direct via Victor_435, a local superhighway, dl
the way. These fellows deserve a lot credit. They told me alot of other thingstoo, but everybody
has problems with red tape.
The take_off was one of my best and | carefully left the pattern just the way the book style says
it should be done. The tower operator told me to contact Department Control Radar but that
seemed kind of glly since | knew where | was going. There must have been some kind of
emergency because, al of a sudden, a lot of airline pilots began yelling a the same time and
made such aracket that | just turned off the radio. You'd think that those professionas would be
better trained. Anyway, | climbed up into a few little flat clouds, cumulus type, at three hundred
feet, but Highway 435 was right under me and, since | knew it was straight east to the town
where we were going to have drinks and dinner, | just went on up into the solid overcast. After
al, it was snowing so hard by now that it was a waste of time to watch the ground. This was a
bad thing to do, | realized. My neighbor undoubtedly wanted to see the scenery, especidly the
mountains all around us, but everybody has to be disappointed sometime and we pilots have to
make the best of it, don't we?

It was pretty smooth flying and, except for the ice that seemed to be forming here and
there, especially on the windshield, there wasrnt much to see. | will say that | handled the
controls quite eadly for a pilot with only sx hours My computer and pencils fell out of my shirt
pocket once in a while but these phenomenon sometime occur | amtold. | don't expect you to
believe this but my pocket watch was standing straight up on its chain. That was pretty funny
and asked my neighbor to look but he just kept staring ahead with sort of a glassy look in his
eyesand | figured that he was afraid of height like all non_pilots are. By the way, something was
wrong with the altimeter, it kept winding and unwinding all the time.

Findly, |1 decided we had flown about long enough to be where we were going, since |
had worked it out on the computer. | am a whiz at that computer, but something must have gone
wrong with it sincewhen | came down to look for the airport there wasn't anything there except
mountains. These weather people sure had beenwrong, too. It wasreal marginal condtions with
a ceiling of about one hundred feet. Y ou just can't trust anybody in this business except yoursdf,
right? Why, there were even thunderstorms going on with occasional bolt of lightning. | decided
that my neighbor should see how beautiful it was and the way it seemed to turn that fog al
yellow, but | guess he was adeep, having gotten over his fear of height, and | didnt wart to
wake him up. Anyway, just then an emergency occurred because the engine quit. It redly didn't
worry me since | had jud read the manual and | knew right wherethe other ignition switch was. |
just fired up the other engine and we kept right on going. This business of having two enginesis
really a safety factor. If one quits the other isright there ready to go. Maybe dl airplanes should
have two engines. Y ou might look into this.
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As pilot in command, | take my responsibilities very saioudy. It was apparent that |
would have to go down lower and keep a sharp eye in uch bad weather. | was glad my neighbor
was asleep because it was pretty dark under the clouds and if it hadn't been for the lightning
flashes it would have been hard to navigate. Also, it was hard to read road signs through the ice
on the windshield. Several cars ran off the road when we passed and you can sure see what they
mean about flying being a lot safer than driving.

To make along story short, | finally spotted an airport that | knew right avay was pretty
close to town and, since we were already late for cocktailsand dinrer, | decided to land there. It
was an Air Force Base s0 | knew it had plenty of runway and | could already see a lot of colored
lightsflashing in the control tower so | knew that we wer e welcome. Somebody had told me that
you could always talk to these military people on the internaional emergency frequency so |
tried it but you wouldn't believe the language that | heard. These people ought to be straightened
out by somebody and | would like to complain, as a taxpayer. Evidently there were expecting
somebody to come in and land because they kept taking aout some god damn stupid
son_of_a ***** yp inthat fog. | wanted to be helpful so I landed on the ramp to be out of the
way in case that other fellow needed the runway. A lot of people came running out waving at us.
It was pretty evident that they had never seen an Aztec C before One fellow, some General with
a pretty nagy tenper, was real mad about something. | tried to explain to him in a reasonable
manne that | didn't think the tower operator should be swearing at that guy up there, but his face
was 0 red that | think he must have adrinking problem.

Wi, that's about all. | caught a bus back home because the weather really got bad, but
my neighbor stayed at the hospital there. He can't make a statement yet because he's still not
awake. Poor fellow, he must have the flu, or something.

Let me know if you need anything else, and please serd my new license airmail, spedal
ddivery.

Very, truly yours,
Pilot

Now that you know what violaions occurred, what happens next with the FAA. Read
on.

Regulation Enforcement

After the (Airline Dereguation Ad) ADA of 1978, the FAA has made enforcement of
regulations as its top priority. Under the FAAct of 1958, the FAA has the power to amend,
revoke or suspend the certificate of any individual or company violating, or not in compliance
with, FAR's.

Condtitutional requirement for Due Processrequiresthe FAA to offer theviolator afar
and impartial hearing. The procedural requirements of the Administrative Procedures Act
(APA) apply to FAA enforcement ections Theburden of proof isuponthe FAA to show tha a
violation has occurred and the cul prit charged is the one who comnitted the violation. Unlike a
criminal proceeding, burden is only of proof by a preponderance of the evidence and not beyond
areasonable doubt. That means that the FAA needs only to persuade the administrative law
judge (ALJ) that its version of the facts is more likely than those opposed.

The FAA's four enforcement options are se forthin FAR 13 (the Table of Contents of
FAR 13 isfound at the end of this Chapter). 1. The FAA may treat avioldion as an
Admindrative action, which resultsiseither a Waning Letter of aL etter of Correction. Both
seek immediae compliance with the regulations, and both remain in the pemanent files
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maintained in Oklahoma City. Any continued violations can result in stiffer enforcement
proceedings. 2. The FAA may sesk civil pendtiesfrom theviolators. Thissanction is usudly
employed for technical violations (as opposed to operaional) of corporate certificate holders
(airlires, FBO's). Finesof up to $1,000 per day per violation may be levied againg individuals;
$10,000 against companies; and up to $50,000 for hazardous material violations The FAA can
also seize your aircraft to ensure payment of thefines. 3. Certificate actions wher eby the FAA
seeks to revoke, suspend or amend your certificate. 4. Reexamination can required before a
person may continue to use all, or some portion, of a certificae. Typicaly this occurs when
there as been an accident which shows lack of competence as opposed to FAR violation.
However, both reexamination and certificate action can both be maintained ina proper case.

Any criminal conduct can result in charges filed by the U.S. Attorney. Typically, afase
logbook, certificae application, or medical disclosure can result insuch action. The maximum
penalty is 5 years in prison and $250,000 fine. Unlike a custodial interrogation in a criminal
case, acertificate action requiresno " Miranda" warnings, even though anything you say can be
used againg you.

Complaint and Investigation

Anyone may lodge acomplant againg asuspected violator. Oncea complaint is
received, thelocd FA A inspector will begin aninvestigation to seeif aviolation occurred and if
the identity of violator can be determined. In most cases anidentification of the araaft leadsto
the inspector contacting the owner/operator to determine who was usng theaircrat onthe date
and time complaned. Mog pilots usually incriminate themselves during these td ephone or
personal interviews.

Enforcement Procedure

Your first official notice will be a certified |etter containing a "Notice of Proposed
Certificate Action, such as shown below, which containsthe FAA's attorneys statement of the
set of facts pertaining to the violation, and the list of FARs alleged to been violated by you. It
will also contain the sanction that the FAA seeks against you. Y ou will be offered several course
of actions, including surrendering your certificate immediatdy; submitting your written reply
and version of the facts; requesting an informal conference with the FAA; or to request aformal
hearing.

The informal conference is conducted somewhat as a combination discovery proceeding
(learning about each otherscase) and a settlement conference. Becausethe FAA will have ther
attorney there, it is appropriate for you to appear with and be represented by legd counsel.
Often times your lawyer can convince the FAA that there are substantial defenses to the charge,
and get the FAA to reducethe sandiors, or change over to dvil penalties instead of certificate
action.

If there is no settlement, the FAA will proceed ahead with their proposed action against
you. At this point, you must timely request aformal hearing before an ALJ or lose your
certificate.

The hearing (trid) will be held in the region where the violation occurred. The ALJwill
hear, consder and weigh the evidence and make her decison ordly at the conclusion, or within
ten days in writing. Both sides can call, subpena and cross-examine witnesses. Because it is an
administrative proceeding, srict rules of evidence do not apply, and hearsay is permitted if it is
the kind that reasonable people might rely upon.

If either side isunhgppy with the ALJ's decision, an appeal may be takento the full board
of the NTSB. No new evidenceis dlowed, and the gppeal isdl doneinwritten briefsand in
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reference to the evidence submitted at the hearing. The FAA is normally without any further
appeal rightsif it is unhappy with the NTSB appea decison. However, you can apped it to the
US Circuit Court of Appeals. Theoreticdly, you could theregfter apped to the US Supreme
Court.

Please review the case of FAA v. Uppstrom (1986) EA-2389, as a somewhat amazing
example of the enforcement process, which appears at pages 7 - 11.

Civil Penalty Procedure
The procedures for the FAA to obtain nonetary sanctions differ in some respects. There
isno administrative hearing (trial). Thetrial isactually areal trial, before ajury if requested,
before areal federal judge or magidrate. Strict rules of procedure and evidence goply.
Thereafter, an appeal is before the Circuit Court of Appeals.
ASRP
NASA (at AmesResearch at Moffet Field) mantains an aviation safety/hazards
information gathering program in conjunctionwiththe FAA which can provide immunity from
enforcement sanctions (not from prosecution) provided the ASRP form 277 is completed and
mailed within 10 days of theincident of possible violation. Inthe case of aflight crew of ar
carier, theentireflight crew and the company should each filetheir own form 277's. This
program will not relieve you sanctionwhere there has been an accident, aimnal condud, or
intertional violations
Hereisthewritten FAA padlicy:
9. ENFORCEMENT POLICY.
The Administrator of theFAA will perform his/he responsibility under Title 49,
United States Code, Subtitle VI, and enf orce the statute and the FAR in amanner that will
reduce or eliminate the possibility of, or recurrence of, aircraft accidents. The FAA
enforcement procedures are st forth in Part 13 of theFAR (14 CFR Part 13) and FAA
enforcement handbooks.
In detemining the type and extent of theenforcement action to betaken in a particuar
case, the following f actors are considered:
nature of the violation;
whether theviolationwas inadvertent or deliberate;
the certificate holder's level of experience and responsibility;
attitude of theviolator;
the hazard to safety of others which should have been foreseen;
action taken by employer or other govermment authority;
length of time which has elapsed since violation;
the certificate holder's use of thecertificate;
the need for special deterent action in a particular regulatory area, or segment of the
aviation community;
and presence of any factors involving national interest, such as the use of aircraft for
criminal purposes.
The filing of areport with NASA concerning an incident or occurrenceinvolving a
violation of 49 U.S.C. Subtitle VI, or the FAR is considered by FAA to be indicativeof a
constructiv e attitude. Such an attitude will tend to prevent future violations. Accordingly,
although afinding of violation may be made, neither a civil penalty nor certificate suspension
will be imposed if:
the violation was inadvertent and not deliberate;
theviadation did notinvolve a criminal offense, or accident. or action under 49 U.S.C.
Section 44709 which discloses a lack of qualification or competency, which is wholly excluded
from this policy;
the person has not been found in any prior FA A enforcement action to have committed
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aviolation of 49 U.S.C. Subtitle VII, or any regulation promulgated there for a period of 5
years prior to the date of occurrence; and

the person proves that, within 10 days after the violation, he or she completed and
delivered or mailed awritten report of the incident or occurrence to NA SA under A SRS. See
paragraphs 5c and 7b.

See the case of Ferqusonv. FAA (at theend of thischapter) for a precedent dedson
as to the scope and limitations of the NASA program. A copy of the reporting form is shown at
the end of the chapter.

When In Doubt

Because the decisions of the NT SB are published, as well asthe lega opinions of the
courts and of the FAA'sown attorneys, there is ample maerial available to research whether
particular conduct isoutside of the regulationsor law. If you are still unsure of whether your
proposed flight is legal or not, seek a legal opinion from the FAA's regional counsel. In order to
give you such an interpretation, the attorney will need to know thecomplete st of facts
surrounding your proposed operation. Never accept an ord opinion that you will bein
compliance; ge it in writing. If thingsgo awry, at least you will be gble to demonstréae tha you
had the right attitude by trying to stay in compliance.

Examples of FAA interpretations are provided below .

Equal Access to Justice

Because thefull weight of the govemment is behind the FAA, it isimportart that a
remedy existsto correct injustice or unlawful conduct by the gover nment agencies. In 1981 the
Equal Access to Justice Act was enacted (49 CHR Part 826) which provides sucharemedy. In
1982, in the case of Sottile v. FAA the FAA was ordered to pay Mr. Sottile $7,000 for his
attorneys fees incurred in defending himself from animproper prosecution brought by the FAA.
In order to prevail under the Act, you mugd 1) win the caseinitially brought by the FAA, 2) show
that the FAA adted without probabl e causeand judificaion. The FAA hasthe burdento show
what was the judtification.

Drug Testing

The Omnibus Transportation Employee Teging Ad of 1991 amended the FAAct of 1958 to
requir e pre-employment, reasonable suspicion, random, post-accident, and periodic recurring
testing for air carrier and FAA employees holding safety sengitive positions. In Bluestein v.
Skinner, (1990 9th Cir) 908 F2d 451, infringement upon 4th Amendment rights were allowed as
being serving " specid government needs' (safety?) other than law enforcement, so astojugify a
warrantlessintruson upon a per son's privacy.

Medical Certificates

Unlike apilot certificate that has already beenin the use and possesson of the pilot, a
medical certificate needs to be issued periodically depending on the type of flight and license that
is being undertaken. While a pilot certificate is aformof property, and hence camot be taken
away without due process, a person seeking to obtain a new certificate must show that they meet
or exceed the minimum requirements for that certificate. If the certificate is denied, then the
burden of proof, and of going forward with the case, is upon the applicant for that certificate. In
medica cases, this means that you must obtain expert (and expensive) medical witnesses and
reports to establishthat you are qualified to beissued that certificates.
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PART 13 (ToC only)
Title 14__Aeronautics and Space
CHAPTER |__FEDERAL AVIATION ADMINISTRATION,DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION
SUBCHAPTER B__PROCEDURAL RULES
PART 13__INVESTIGATIVE AND ENFORCEMENT PROCEDURES
Subpart A__Investigative Procedures
Sec. 13.1 Reports of violations.
Sec. 13.3 Investigations(general).
Sec. 13.5 Formal complaints.
Sec. 13.7 Records, documents and reports.
Subpart B__ Administrative Actions
Sec. 13.11 Administrative disposition of certain violations.
Subpart C__Legal Enforcement Actions
Sec. 13.13 Consent orders.
Sec.13.15 Civil penalties: Federal Aviation Actof 1958 involving anamount in controversy inexcess
of $50,000; aninrem action; sel zure of aircraft; or injunctive reli ef.
Sec.13.16 Civil penalties: Federal Aviation Act of 1958, involving an amount in controversy not
exceeding $50,000;
Hazardous Materials Transportation A ct.
Sec. 13.17 Seizure of aircraft.
Sec. 13.19 Certificate action.
Sec.13.20 Orders of compliance, cease and desist orders, orders of denial, and other orders.
Sec. 13.21 Military personnel.
Sec. 13.23 Criminal penalties.
Sec. 13.25 Injunctions.
Sec.13.27 Final order of Hearing Officer in certificate of aircraftregistration proceedings.
Subpart D__Rules of Practice for FAA Hearings
Sec. 13.31 Applicability.
Sec. 13.33 Appearances.
Sec. 13.35 Request for hearing.
Sec. 13.37 Hearing Officer's powers.
Sec. 13.39 Disqualification of Hearing Officer.
Sec. 13.41 [Reserved)]
Sec.13.43 Service and filing of pleadings, motions, and documents.
Sec.13.44 Computation of time and extension of time.
Sec. 13.45 Amendment of notice and answer.
Sec. 13.47 Withdrawal of notice or reguest for hearing.
Sec. 13.49 Motions.
Sec. 13.51 Intervention.
Sec. 13.53 Depositions.
Sec. 13.55 Notice of hearing.
Sec. 13.57 Subpoenas and witness fees.
Sec. 13.59 Evidence.
Sec. 13.61 Argument and submittals.
Sec. 13.63 Record.
Subpart E__Orders of Compliance Under the Hazardous Materials Transportation Act
Sec. 13.71 Applicability.
Sec. 13.73 Notice of proposed order of compliance.
Sec. 13.75 Reply or request for hearing.
Sec. 13.77 Consent order of compliance.
Sec. 13.79 Hearing.
Sec. 13.81 Order of immediate compliance.
Sec. 13.83 Appeal.
Sec. 13.85 Filing, service and computation of time.
Sec. 13.87 Extension of time.
Subpart F__Formal Fact_Finding Investigation Under an Order of Investigation
Sec. 13.101 A pplicability.
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Sec. 13.103 Order of investigation.

Sec. 13.105 N otification.

Sec. 13.107 D esignation of additional parties.

Sec. 13.109 Convening the investigation.

Sec. 13.111 Subpoenas.

Sec. 13.113 N oncompliance with the inv estigative pr ocess.
Sec. 13.115 Public proceedings.

Sec. 13.117 Conduct of investigative proceeding or deposition.

Sec. 13.119 Rights of persons agaons and orders.

Sec. 13.129 Post_investigation action.

Sec. 13.131 Other procedures.

Subpart G__Rules of Practice inFAA Civil Penalty Actions

Sec. 13.201 A pplicability.

Sec. 13.202 Definitions.

Sec. 13.203 Separation of functions.

Sec. 13.204 Appearances and rights of parties.

Sec. 13.205 Administrative law judges.

Sec. 13.206 Intervention.

Sec. 13.207 Certification of documents.

Sec. 13.208 Complaint.

Sec. 13.209 Answer.

Sec. 13.210 Filing of documents.

Sec. 13.211 Service of documents.

Sec. 13.212 Computation of time.

Sec. 13.213 Extension of time.

Sec. 13.214 Amendment of pleadings.

Sec. 13.215 Withdrawal of complaint or request for hearing.

Sec. 13.216 Waivers.

Sec. 13.217 Joint procedural or discovery schedule.

Sec. 13.218. Motions.

Sec. 13.219 Interlocutory appeals.

Sec. 13.220 Discovery.

Sec. 13.221 N otice of hearing.

Sec. 13.222 Evidence.

Sec. 13.223 Standard of proof.

Sec. 13.224 Burden of proof.

Sec. 13.225 Offer of proof.

Sec. 13.226 Public disclosure of evidence.

Sec. 13.227 Expert or opinion witnesses.

Sec. 13.228 Subpoenas.

Sec. 13.229 Witness fees.

Sec. 13.230 Record.

Sec. 13.231 Argument before the administrative law judge.

Sec. 13.232 Initial decision.

Sec. 13.233 Appeal from initial decision.

Sec.13.234 Petition to reconsider or modify afinal decision and order of the FAA decisionmaker on

appeal.
Sec. 13.235 Judicial review of afinal decision and arder.

Special Federal Aviation Regulation No. 72 Civil Penalties: Streamlined Enforcement Test and Evaluaion Program.

Spedal Federal Aviation Regulation No. 72
Civil Penalties: Streamlined Enforcement Test and Evaluation Program.

This SFAR may be used, at the agency's discretion, in enforcement actions involving individual s presenting
dangerous or deadly weapons for screening at air ports or in checked b aggage w here the amount of the prop osed civil
penalty is less than $5,000. In these cases, Secs. 13.16(a), 13.16(c), and 13.16(f) through (1) of this chapter are used,
as well as sections (A) through (D) below:

(A) Delegation of authority. The authority of the Administrator, under section 901 of the Federal Aviation Act of
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1958, as amended, to initiate the assessment of civil penalties for a vidation of the Act, or a rule, regulation, or order
issued thereunder, is delegated to the regional Office of Civil Aviation Security Division Manager and the regional
Office of Civil Aviation Security Deputy Division Manager for the purpose of issuing notices of vidation in cases
involving violations of the Federal Aviation Act and the FAA's regulations by individual s presenting dangerous or
deadly weapons for screening at airport checkpoints or in checked baggage. This authority may not be delegated
below the level of the Office of Civil Aviation Security Deputy Division Manager.

(B) Notice of violation. A civil penalty action isinitiated by sending a notice of violation to the person charged with
the violation. The notice of violation contains a statement of the charges and the amount of the proposed civilessing a
civil penaltyor a

compromise order shall be issued in that amount;

(2) Submit to the regional Office of the Assistant Chief Counsel any of the following:

(i) Written information, including documents and witness statements, demonstrating that a violation of the
regulationsdid not occur o that a penalty or the penalty amount is not warranted by the circumstances; (ii) A written
request to reduce the proposed civil penalty, the amount of reduction, and the reasons and any documents supporting
areduction of the proposed civil penalty, including records indicating a financial inability to pay or records showing
that payment of the proposed civil penalty would prevent the person from continuing in business; or

(iii) A written request for an informal conference to discuss the matter with an agency attorney and submit relevant
information or documents; or (3) Request a hearing in which case a complaint shall be filed with the hearing docket
clerk.

(C) Final notice of violation and civil penalty assessment order. A final notice of violation and civil penalty
assessment order (“final notice and orde™) may be issued after participationin any informal proceedings as provided
in paragraph (B)(2) of this section, or after failure of the respondent to respond in a timely manner to a notice of
violation. A final notice and order will be sentto the individual charged with avidation. The final notice and order
will contain a statement of the charges and the amount of the proposed civil penalty and, as a result of information
submitted to the agency attorney during any informal procedures, may modify an allegation or a proposed civil
penalty contained in the notice of violation. A final notice and order may be issued__

(1) If the person charged with a violation fails to respond to the notice of violation within 30 days after receipt of
that notice; or (2) If the parties participated in any informal procedures under paragraph (B)(2) of this section and the
parties have not agreed to compromise the action or the agency attorney has not agreed to withdraw the notice of
violation.

(D) Order assessing civil penalty. An order assessing civil penalty may be issued after notice and opportunity for a
hearing. A person charged with a violation may be subject to an order assessing civil penalty in the following
circumstances:

(1) An order assessing civil penalty may be issued if a person charged with a violation submits, or agrees to submit,
the amount of civil penalty proposed in the notice of violation.

(2) An order assessing civil penalty may beissued if a person charged with a violation submits, or agrees to submit,
an agreed_upon amount of civil penalty that is not reflected in either the notice of violation or the final notice and
order.

(3) Thefinal notice and or der becomes (and contains a statement so indicating) an order assessing a civil penalty
when the person charged with a violation submits the amount of the proposed civil penaltythat is reflected in the final
noticeand order.

(4) The final notice and order becomes (and containsa staement so indicating) an order assessinga civil penalty 16
days ater receipt of the final natice and order, unless notlater than 15 daysafter receipt of thefind notice and order,
the person charged with a violation does one of the following

(i) Submits an agreed_upon amount of civil penalty that is notreflected in the final notice and order, in which case
an order assessing civil penalty or acompromise order shal an alleged violation occurr ed and deter mines that a civil
penalty, in an amount found to be appropriate by the administrative law judge, is warranted.

(6) Unless a petition for review isfiled witha U.S. Court of Appealsinatimely manner, afinal decision and order
of the Administrator shall be considered an order assessing civil penalty if the FAA decision maker finds that an
alleged violation occurred and a civil penalty is warranted.

[Dkt. No. 27873, Amdt. 13_25, 59 FR 44269, Aug. 26, 1994]

NTSB PART 821 (ToC only)
PART 821__RULES OF PRACTICEIN AIR SAFETY PROCEEDINGS
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Subpart A__ General Provisions
Sec.
821.1 Definitions.
821.2 Applicability and description of part.
Subpart B__General Rules Applicable to Petitions for Review, Appeals to the Board, and Appeals from Initial
Decisions
821.6 Appearances and rights of witnesses.
821.7 Filing of documents with the Board.
821.8 Service of documents.
821.9 Intervention.
821.10 Computation of time.
821.11 Extension of time.
821.12 Amendment and withdrawal of pleadings.
821.13 Waivers.
821.14 Motions.
821.15 Motion to disqualify a Board Member.
821.16 Appealsfrom law judge'sinterlocutory rulings and motions.
821.17 Motionsto dismiss and for judgment on the pleadings.
821.18 M otion for more definite statement.
821.19 Depostionsand other discovery.
821.20 Subpoenas, witness fees, and appearances of Board Members, officers, or employees.
821.21 Official notice.
Subpart C__Special Rules Applicable to Proceedings Under Section 602(b) of the Act
821.24 Initiation of proceedings.
821.25 Burden of proof.
821.26 M otion to dismiss petition for review for lack of standing.
Subpart D__Special Rules Applicable to Proceedings Under Section 609 of the Act
821.30 Initiation of proceedings.
821.31 Complaint procedure.
821.32 Burden of proof.
821.33 Motion to dismiss stale complaint.
Subpart E__Law Judges
821.35 Assignment, duties, and powers.
Subpart F__Hearings
821.37 Notice of hearing.
821.38 Evidence.
821.39 Argument and submissions.
821.40 Record.
821.41 Certification to the Board.
Subpart G___Initial Decision
821.42 Initial decision by law judge.
821.43 Effect of law judge'sinitial decision, and filing an appeal therefrom.
Subpart H__Appeals from Initial Decisions
821.47 Notice of appeal.
821.48 Briefsand oral argument.
821.49 Issueson appeal.
821.50 Petitions for rehearing, reargument, reconsideration, or modification of an order of the Board.
Subpart |__Rules Applicable to Emergency Proceedings
821.54 General.
821.55 A ppeal, complaint, answer to the complaint, and motions. 821.56 Hearing and initial decision.
821.57 Procedure on appeal.
Subpart J__Ex Parte Communications
821.60 Definitions.
821.61 Prohibited ex parte communications.
821.62 Procedures for handling ex parte communication.
821.63 Requirement to show cause and imposition of sanction.
Subpart K__Judicial Review of Board Orders
821.64 Judidal review.
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Authority: Title VI, Federal Aviation Act of 1958, asamended (49 U.S.C. App. 1421 et seq.); Independent Safety
Board A ct of 1974, Pub. L. 93_633, 88 Stat. 2166 (49 U.S.C. App. 1901, et seq.), and FAA Civil Penalty
Administrative Assessment Act of 1992, Pub. L. 102_345 (49 U.S.C. App. 1471), unless otherwise noted.

Source: 40 FR 30243, July 17, 1975, unless other wise noted.

WAGNER v FAA
9th Circuit Court of Appeals

OPINION
KLEINFELD, Circuit Judge:
Mr. Wagner petitions for review of a National Trangportation Safety Board (NTSB)
decision suspending his pilot's certificate for ninety days. The main issue is whether a
flight can be a "demonstration flight" under Part 91 of the FAA regulations, when a person
flying the airplane isconsidering the purchase, but the paying customer does not know that
it is ademonstration flight on which it does not enjoy all the protections of Part 135. We
agree with the NTSB that the answer is no.

FACTS
Sun World International regularly used Desert Airlines to fly its executives from one place
to another. Mr. Wagner regularly acted as pilot, usudly flying a type of airplane called a
Beechcraft King Air. The evening before one such flight, the King Air had mechanical
problems. A man named Frost was interested in selling a Learjet, and offered it to Desert
Airlines for afree demonstration flight. Mr. Wagner had formerly been certified to fly
L earjets, but had let hiscertifica tion lapse because he was not flying them regularly. He
had some interestin buying a Learjet. Mr. Frost, Desert, and Mr. Wagner arranged that the
Learjet would be used as a substitute for the King Air, and that this would be a free
demonstration flight. Mr. W agner would fly as copilot.
Executives from Sun W orld had plans to travel on Desert Airlines the evening that Frost,
Desert, and Mr. Wagner made the arrangements for the demonstration flight. Neither Sun
World president Mr. Rinella nor the Sun World employee responsible for booking the
flight knew anything about these arrangements. They thought they were chartering a
commercial air taxi flight as usual. When Mr. Rinella got to theairport and saw the
Learjet, he expressed surprise, and said he did not need a jet for the short flight. Mr.
Y skamp, the head of Desert Airlines, and M r. Wagner were there, but did not tell Mr.
Rinellathat this was a free demonstration flight to look over the Learjet. Instead, Mr.
Rinella was told that he would be charged the same rate he usually paid for the King Air,
because the King Air was not available:
Well, | heard at that time that the King Air was not available, this plane was being
substituted but that the not to be alarmed because the rate on the airplane would be
identical to that for the King Air and that D esert Air was absorbing the difference. . . .. I
had no knowledge of the demonstration flight.
Subsequently, Desert Airlines sent Sun World an invoice for the flight. Mr. Rinella
initially refused to pay it, because it did not have a date, and it listed the King Air aircraft
instead of the Learjet. After D esert satisfied him that the amount was the same as he would
have paid for the King Air, he authorized payment on the invoice to Desert Airlines. A
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copy of the invoice was not furnished to Mr. Wagner's coun sel until the day before his
hearing, although he had been advised that there was such an invoice. The evidence
established without contradiction that neither Mr. Wagner nor Mr. Frost, the owner of the
Learjet, charged or was paid for the flight. There isno explanation in the record of whether
the FAA disciplined Desert Airlines, which arranged the flight with the passengers and
billed them for it, or just Mr. W agner, the unpaid copilot.
All of the facts cited above were supported by substantial evidence on the record as a
whole, and none of them was contradicted. Thus, as far as the prospective seller of the
L earjet was concerned, this was a demonstration flight at no charge so that Mr. Wagner
could evaluate the plane for possible purchase, and determine whether his frequent
customers would like it. But asfar as Mr. Rinellaand the Sun World employee who
booked the flight knew, this was a commercial flight for which they would be billed. They
knew nothing about its being a free test flight to demonstrate the airplane. Desert Airlines
seems to have been of two minds, operating a free ted flight so far as Mr. Frost, the
Learjet's owner, and Mr. Wagner, the copilot and prospective purchaser, were concerned,
but an ordinary commercial flight for hire with respect to its customer, Sun World
International.
ANALYSIS

Thisis an Administrative Procedure Act review of a petition, so we "shall hold unlawful
and set aside agency action, findings, and conclusions found to be arbitrary, cgpricious, an
abuse of discretion, or otherwise not in accordance with law." 5 U.S.C. S706(2)(A);
Howard v. FAA, 17 F.3d 1213 (9th Cir. 1994). Purely legal questions are reviewed de
novo. Howard, 17 F.3d at 1215.

I. The FAA's Discovery Violation.
The Administrative Law Judge had required exchange of all exhibits fifteen days before
trial. The attorney for the FAA did not obtain Desert Airlines' invoice to Sun World until a
week before trial, Monday, March 16. A week earlier, she had told Mr. Wagner's lawyer
that among the exhibits would be a copy of the invoice, but he did not fully understand
what she was talking about, because he did not realize that Desert Airlines had sent an
invoice. She told him that she would send it to him immediately as soon as she received it.
She had the attorney's fax number.
The FAA's lawyer got the invoice in the late afternoon on Monday, March 16. She did not
send it to M r. Wagner's lawyer that af ternoon. She was out of the office and did not have it
sent Tuesday or Wednesday. She was back in the office Thursday, but did not cause the
invoice to go out that day either. Indead, she sent it ordinary mail (not fax) on Friday,
March 20. It got to Mr. Wagner's lawyer M onday, the day before the Tuesday hearing. Mr.
Wagner objected to its admission as evidence, but the Administrative Law Judge let it in
anyway. M r. Wagner, how ever, did not seek a continuance to rebut the evidence. Mr.
Wagner argues that admitting the invoice was arbitrary and capricious.
There appears to have been no good reason why the FAA's attorney could not have
subpoenaed the invoice in plenty of time to produce it as required by the deadline in the
prehearing order. Nor was there any apparent excuse for not faxing it to Mr. Wagner's
lawyer during the week before the hearing, when she had it and he did not. As the case
would look to the attorneys the week before the hearing, the invoice would likely be
important, because it would prove that the flight had been for a charge, not for free.
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But as the evidence came out at the hearing, and as the FAA decided the case, the invoice
did not matter. We therefore need not decide whether the invoice was wrongly admitted.
Aswe explain below, the outcome was controlled by the customers' ignorance of whether
this was a demonstration flight, and its expectation that it would be charged, regardless of
whether a charge was actually made. Error in admission of the invoice could not, as this
case ultimately was decided, have prejudiced Mr. Wagner, so we need not decide whether
there was error. See Jankav. D epartment of Transportation, 925 F.2d 1147, 1152 (9th Cir.
1991).

Il. Part 91.
Part 135 of the FAA regulations generally provide regulatory safeguardsfor air taxi
passengers. 14 C.F.R.S 135.1. Part 91 provides more liberal operating rules for various
kinds of flights, such as ferry or training flights, aerial survey work, free demonstrations of
airplanes to prospective customers, and use by a company of its own airplane. 14 C.F.R.S
91.501. Mr. Wagner was certified to fly the Learjet under Part 91, but not under Part 135.
The applicable subsection upon which hereliesis for demonstration flights:
Flights for the demonstration of an airplane to prospective customers when no charge is
made except for those specified in paragraph (d) of this section
14 C.F.R. S91.501(b)(3). Subsection (d) is an exception for certain passed on expenses,
e.g., fuel and landing fees, 14 C.F.R. S 901(d), and no party claims that it applies to this
case.
Mr. Wagner argues that the quoted exception applies, because he worked with D esert
Airlines as an independent contractor, and the Sun World passengers were his regular
customers and not just Desert Airlines. The owner of the Learjet did not charge and
neither did he.
We agree with the NTSB that the regulation must be applied based upon what the
customers knew when its executives boarded the plane, not upon arrangements unknown
to it between the owner and prospective purchaser of the airplane. The regulatory scheme
is designed to assure the safety of air taxi passengers. A secondary purpose is to facilitate
air commerce, by encouraging people to fly on airplanes secure in the know ledge that air
commerce is heavily regulated to protect their safety. If a customer's executives are flying
on afree demonstration flight to look over an aircraft for possible purchase, without all the
Part 135 safeguards in place, the customer is entitled to know it.
The critical fact in the case at bar is that neither Sun World president Mr. Rinella nor the
employee who booked the flight knew they were involved in a demonstration flight.
Unless all customers making travel arrangements on a flight know that they are dealing
with ademonstration of an airplane for which no charge will be made to some prospective
purchaser of the arcraft, this Part 91 exception to Part 135 cannot apply. 1
We need not decide whether Mr. Wagner could have avoided discipline, had the evidence
demonstrated that he reasonably believed that Sun World knew that this was a free
demonstration flight. No evidence contradicted Mr. Rinella's testimony that when he asked
about the Learjet, with Mr. Wagner standing there and taking to him, he "heard at that
time that the King Air was not available, this plane was being substituted but that the not
to be alarmed because the rate on the airplane would be identical to that for the King Air
and that Desert Air was absorbing the difference.” Mr. Wagner testified, but did not deny
that this discussion had taken place or that he had said or heard the remark.
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So far as Sun World knew, this was an ordinary commercial flight, of the type regulaed
by Part 135. Mr. Rinella and the employ ee who booked the flight might never have heard
of Part 135, but they could assume that the usual regulatory scheme for commercial
airplane flights was in place and protecting the passengers' safety. The company was to be
charged, and it paid for the flight. Section 91.501(b)(3) requires that no charge be made for
a demonstration flight. It isnot a"no charge" flight if the customer isto pay for their
carriage, whether or not the airline is to pay the aircraft's owner. Indeed when Mr. Rinella
raised the question of why they were flying on a Learjet, he was told that his company
would be charged the same rate as for a King Air.

Looking to the customers' reasonable expectation to determine the nature of the flight is
consistent with NTSB precedent. See Administrator v. Southeast Air, Inc., 4 NTSB 517,
519 (1982); Adminigrator v. Cunningham, 5 NTSB 516, 519 (1985). It makes obvious
sense.

PETITION DENIED.

Footnotes

[Footnote 1] We need not decide how the regulation should be construed in circumstances
where there is a significant distinction between "customers,” the term in the regulation,
and passengers. If Desert Airlines had told Sun World that the flight would be a free
demonstration flight, but the Sun World employeeswho were passengers did not know
that, so the passengers thought they were boarding an ordinary commercial flight, that
might or might not be a distinguishable case. Likewise, if the "prospective customers" for
an aircraft were to be passive investors buying the plane for lease to an air taxi service, and
the fully informed passengers for the demonstration flight were the ar taxi personnel who
would use the plane but would not be the seller's "prospective customers,” we do not
intimate unavailability of 14 C.F.R. S 91.501(b)(3). These questions are |eft for a case
raising them.

BORREGARD v. NATIONAL TRANSP. SAFETY BD.
46 F.3d 944 (9th Cir. 1995)

Petition to Review a D ecision of the National Transportation Safety Board.

Robert Borregard appeals an NTSB decision affirming an FAA Emergency Order
revoking his aircraft mechanic certificate and inspection authority on the charge that
Borregard altered an aircraft's maintenance logs for a fraudulent purpose in violation of 14
C.F.R. 43.12(a)(3). Borregard contends that the Board's finding that he breached
43.12(a)(3) is not supported by substantial evidence and that the revocation of his
certificates was an inappropriate and unconstitutional response to the charged violation.
Because the Board'sdecision is not arbitrary and capricious and is supported by substantial
evidence, we affirm. The penalty, too, was appropriate in light of the gravity of
Borregard's infraction and established B oard precedent.

|. Standards of Review
Review of NTSB ordersis deferential. This Court must affirm unless the NTSB's order is
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"arbitrary, capricious, an abuse of discretion, or otherwise not in accordance with law." 5
U.S.C. 706(2)(A). Findings of fact are conclusive, so long as they are supported by
substantial evidence in the record. Legd conclusions are generally reviewed de novo.
Olsen v. NTSB, 14 F.3d 471, 474 (9th Cir. 1994). However, an agency's interpretation of
its own organic statute and regulati ons are accorded deference, unless "the administrative
construction is clearly contrary to the plain and sensible meaning of the regulation.” Hart
V. McLucas, 535 F.2d 516, 520 (9th Cir. 1976).
II. The Legal Standard

The Board's interpretation of 43.12(a)(3) is arguably contrary to the plain meaning of the
regulation. Correctly understanding 43.12(a)(3) as an attempted fraud provision, the Board
enunciated the elements of a43.12(a)(3) violation: 1) afalse representation; 2) in regard to
a material fact; 3) made with knowledge of its falsity; and 4) with the intent to deceive.
The language and purpose of 43.12(a)(3), however, may call for a less exacting standard.
The regulaion prohibits"[a]ny alteration, for fraudulent purpose.” (Emphasis added). By
requiring that the alteration be actually false and made with knowledge of that falsity, the
Board has effectively read theword "any" out of the regulation and replaced it with an
implicit "knowingly false." The elements of attempted fraud would seem to be met so long
as the actor subjectively believes the alteration is false, whether or not the information is
actually false.
Although we note this lurki ng question, we do not need to make such subtle interpretive
distinctions today as Borregard clearly violated 43.12(a)(3) even under the more stringent
standard applied by the Board.

[11. Each Element of a 43.12(a)(3) Violation is Supported
Each element of a43.12(a)(3) violation is supported by substantial evidence. The basic
facts of the case are not in dispute. Borregard initially entered October 24 as the date of
inspection in the engine log of the plane at issue and October 28 as the inspection date in
the air frame log. In fact, the ingpection had not been completed by October 24 or 28.
Keith Mason, the director of maintenance of Squadron Two Flying Club, Borregard's
employer, asked Borregard to backdate the annual inspection to September in an apparent
attempt to shield a club member from any liability arising from his flying an uncertified
plane. Borregard covered the entries of the October dates with a sticker and entered
September 1 as the date he completed the annual inspection. Once Borregard |learned that
the FAA had received the false records, he attempted to cover up his misstaement. He
again placed gickersover the entries, rewriting October 24 in the logs and submitting the
new copies to the FAA. Later, he wrote "void" over the new October 24 entry. He finally
recorded November 1 as the completion date, despite the fact that as of November 1, the
annual inspection still had not been compl eted.
Borregard concedes that he made all the above date changes and that he knew that the
inspection had not been completed even by November 1, the |atest date entered.
Accordingly, there is no question that the four entries were false and that Borregard knew
of their falsity. Entry of the exact completion date only satisfies the air safety regulations.
Administrator v. Olsen, NT SB Order No. 3582 at 10.
Borregard argues that he had no intent to deceive the FAA. In a nutshell, he argues that he
intended to defraud only those who would rely on the records of Squadron Two, not the
FAA. However, the fact that Borregard intended to defraud certain people and not others
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does not negate his bad intent. The pilots, mechanics, insurers, and anyone else who might
rely on Squadron Two's safety records, even the public at large, are within the ambit of
those protected by the air safety regulations requiring that maintenance records for aircraft
be trustworthy. Cf. Administrator v. Berglin, NTSB Order No. EA_3846 at 5.
Furthermore, there is substantial evidence suggeging that Borregard intended to defraud
the FAA. Borregard knowingly presented false information to the FAA, sending the FAA
copies of redoctored records showing an October 24 inspection date. Later, Borregard
showed up at the hearing with records bearing a November 1 completion date, when, by
Borregard's own testimony, the inspection was completed after November 1.
As a matter of law, Borregard's false entries in the logs are material. The test of materiality
is whether the fd se statements had the natural tendency to influence, or were capable of
influencing, the decision of the FAA inspector to whom the logbook was submitted. Janka
v. NTSB, 925 F.2d 1147, 1150 (9th Cir. 1991). As one would expect, materiality in the
context of regulations requiring logbooks has been interpreted broadly to include any
logbook entry which in any way illustrates compliance with the referenced regulations.
Administrator v. Olsen, NTSB Order No. EA_3582 at 10. Clealy, certifying that
maintenance on a plane had been completed when in factit had not ismaterial .1

IV. The Propriety of Revocation of Licenses as a Penalty
Borregard contendsthat revocation of his mechanic and inspection certificates is not an
appropriate sanction for the violation charged in tha 1) it violates his substantive due
process rights and 2) his actions do not show a lack of qualification. Both arguments are
contrary to the great weight of authority.
The "liberty" that the Constitution protects does include choice of occupation. Board of
Regents v. Roth, 408 U.S. 564, 573, 92 S.Ct. 2701, 2707 (1972). However, the state has
broad discretion to regulate professions through the police power, subject only to rational
basis review. Schware v. Board of Examiners, 353 U.S. 232, 239, 77 S.Ct. 752, 756, 1
L.Ed.2d 796 (1957). Because the qualification standards requiring accurate entries in
maintenance logs are rationally connected to the public interest in safe air travel, there is
no constitutional violation here.
Numerous cases have upheld the revocation of licenses not only for fraudulent entries, but
the lesser included offense of intentionally false entries. The law iswell_settled that "[a]n
Inspection Authorization holder who knowingly misrepresents alogbook entry bearing on
the condition of an aircraft . . . clearly lacks the judgment a qualified certificate holder is
expected and required to possess." Administrator v. Rice, 5 NTSB 2285 (1987). "[O]ne
intentionally false log entry would be sufficient, in and of itself, to warrant revocation."
Administrator v. Olsen, NTSB Order No. EA 3582 (1992), aff'd Olsen v. NTSB, 14 F.3d
471, 476 (9th Cir. 1994). See also, Administrator v. Berglin, NTSB Order No. EA_ 03846
(1993) and Administrator v. Coomber, NTSB Order No. EA_4283. Thus, revocation of
Borregard's inspection authority was the appropriate and expected response to the
fraudulent log entries.
Likewise, Board precedents have implicitly held that integrity is a prerequisite to holding a
pilot or mechanic certificate. See, Administrator v. Barron, 5 NTSB 256 (1985);
Administrator v. Coomber, NTSB Order No. EA_4283; and Olsen v. NTSB, 14 F.3d at
476. Considering that this Court in Olsen affirmed revocation of a mechanic certificate for
an intentiondly falselog entry in violation of 43.12(a)(1), there can be no argument that
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an attempted fraud, a more serious violation, cannot warrant such a sanction. Hart v.
McLucas, 535 F.2d 516, 520 (9th Cir. 1976) (fraudulent entries carry a greater degree of
culpability than intentionally false ones and, therefore, warrant more severe sanctions).
Thus, revocation of Borregard's mechanic certificate was also an appropriate and
predictable sanction.

V. Conclusion
Reflecting on his own error of acquiescing to his empl oyer, Borregard conf essed, "I'm
stupid. | really, really am stupid.” While Borregard, who is arguably a simple naif
manipulated by others, may be entitled to pity, heis not entitled to a mechanic certificate
with inspection authority. Lack of judgmentis just asserious a shortcoming for an airplane
mechanic entrusted with certifying the airworthiness of planes asis a lack of mechanical
skills Borregard was correctly found in violation of 43.12(a)(3), even under the stringent
legal standard applied. Ninth Circuit and NTSB precedent, as well as common sense,
support revocation of the certificates as an appropriate penalty. We AFFIRM.
Footnotes
[Footnote 1] Borregard raises several other irrelevant or basel essarguments that do not
merit discussion.

Fergurson v. FAA (1982)

Lowell G. Ferguson appeals the decision of the National T ransportation Safely
Board (NTSB) to suspend his Airline Transport Pilot Certificate for 60 days for violations
of the Federal Aviation Regulations. Ferguson, the pilot_in-command of Western Airlines
Flight 44, landed his aircraft without clearance at Buffalo, Wyoming, rather than at the
scheduled stop at Sheridan, Wyoming. The NTSB. adopted as its own the decision of the
Administrative Law Judge (ALJ) affirming the order of suspension issued by the
Administrator of the Federal Aviation Administration (FAA).

Ferguson now requests this court to vacate and set aside the order of the ALJ and
the NTSB, or, in the alternative, to remand for further proceedings. Ferguson asserts an
affirmative defense under the FAA/NASA Aviation Safety Reporting Program (ASRP
Advisory Circular 00-46B), contending: (1) hewas entitled to a waiver of punishment
because his actions were inadvertent and not deliberate;" (2) his conduct was not reckless
within the meaning of Federal Aviation Regulation 8§ 91.9(14 C.F.R. § 91.9). Jurisdiction
in the United States Court of A ppeals for the Ninth Circuit is predicated upon 49 U.S.C. §
1486 (Federal Aviation Act of 1958), 49 U.S.C. § 1903 (Independent Safety Board Act of
1974), and 5 U.S.C. § 701 (Administrative Procedure Act).

In our view, this appeal presents two issues: first, whether the ALJ properly
interpreted the phrase "inadvertent and not deliberate” in Advisory Circular (00-46B) of
the FAA Aviation Safety Reporting Program; and second, whether theNTSB was correct
in affirming the ALJs conclusion from the findings of fact that Ferguson'soperation of
Western Airlines Flight 44 was reckless within the meaning of Federal Aviation
Regulation § 91.9.
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We hold that the N TSB did not abuse its discretion in interpreting the Advisory
Circular 00-46B. Neither the historical background nor the language of thecircular
indicates that reckless conduct can be considered "inadvertent and not deliberate" and thus,
qualify for awaiver of punishment. We also conclude that the NTSB did not abuse its
discretion in affirming the ALJ's conclusion that Ferguson's conduct was reckless.
Although Ferguson did not knowingly land his aircraft at the wrong airport, he should
have known that his conduct demonstrated a gross digegard for safety and created an
actual danger to life and property. Accordingly, we affirm the decision of the NTSB.

1. FACTUAL BACKGROUND
Ferguson was pilot_in_command of Western Airlines Flight 44 from Los
Angeles, Californiato seven locations, including Las Vegas, Nevada, Denver, Colorado,
and Sheridan, Wyoming. Ferguson, with over 12,000 hours of flying experience, had
never been found in violation of any Federal Aviation Regulations.

Flight 44 left Los Angeles on July 31, 1979. By the time the flight departed on
the leg from Denver to Sheridan, it was 35 minutes behind schedule. The original flight
plan would have taken the aircraft from the Denver Air Route T raffic Control Center to
the Crazy Woman navigational facility for an instrument landing in Sheridan. Shortly
before reaching Crazy Woman, however, control of flight 44 was transferred to Salt Lake
Air Route Traffic Control Center (Salt Lake Center). Visibility was unrestricted, and Salt
Lake Center offered flight 44 a direct clearance to Sheridan along airway victor 19, which
passed directly over an airport in Buffalo, Wyoming. Flight 44 accepted the new plan in
order to save time and fuel.

Ferguson handled radio communications as the flight approached Sheridan, and
the firg officer, James Bagtiani, flew the aircraft. Neither Ferguson nor Bastiani had flown
into Sheridan before, but each believed the other had. Ferguson reviewed the navigational
chart, but failed to note
that the Buffalo airport was directly under the arcraft's flight path.

At approximately 10:00 p. m. both Ferguson and Bastiani saw runway lights and
commenced a visual approach to what they assumed was the Sheridan Airport. Ferguson
did not use available radio navigation aids to make positive identification of the airport.
During the approach, flight 44 maintained radio contact with the Sheridan Flight Service
Station. Although the Air Traffic Controller in Sheridan informed Right 44 that another
aircraft was on final approach, neither Ferguson nor Bastiani inquired further when they
were unable to see the other aircraft Although the airport at Sheridan was equipped with
visual approach slope indicator (VASI) lights, Ferguson did not ask the Sheridan Flight
Service Sation why the runway before him was not so lighted. In spite of the fact that
Ferguson was under an obligation to land the aircraft himself (Western Airlines Flight
Operational Manual, 85.1.2 B), First Officer Bastiani landed the Boeing 737. It was not
until the aircraft's landing gear nose wheel sank in the turnoff p ad beyond the runway that
Ferguson realized that flight 44 had landed in Buffalo instead of Sheridan. The error was
confirmed when the jeep that drove up to meet them bore "Piper” insignia rather than the
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expected Western Airlines 1ogo.

On November 28, 1979 the Administrator of the FAA issued an order of
suspension of Ferguson's Airline Transport Pilot certificate for 60 days. The order was
subsequently filed as the Administrator's complaint, and charged Ferguson with violation
of four sections of the Federal Aviation Regulations: (1) §91.75(a) (14 C.F.R. § 91.75,
deviating from an air traffic control clearance; (2) § 121.590(a) (14 C.F.R. § 121.590),
landing at an airport not certificated under part 139 of the Federal Aviation Regulations;
(3) 8§ 121.555(b) (14 C.F.R. 8§ 121.555), landing at an airport not listed in the Western
Airlines Operations Specifications; and (4) § 91.9 (14 C.F.R. § 91.9), operating an aircraft
in a careless or reckless manner so as to endanger the life or property of another.

An evidentiary hearing was held before an ALJ on June 4, 1980. The ALJ
concluded that the evidence in the record supported afinding that Ferguson had violated
the sectionsof the Federal Aviation Regulations as charged. The Administrator's 60_day
suspension of Ferguson's Airline Transport Pilot Certificate was affirmed by the ALJ.

I

Ferguson filed a timely notice of appeal, and on December 9, 1980 the NTSB
affirmed the 60~day suspension. On January 7, 1981, Ferguson filed a motion to stay the
order with the NTSB. The motion was granted on January 8, 1981, and the order of
submission was stayed pending the disposition of the case by this court.

[I. STANDARD OF REVIEW

Our review of the NTSB decision is limited by the standards set forth in the
Administrative Procedure Act, 5 USC 8§ 706(2). Unless the decision was “arbitrary,
capricious, an abuse of discretion, or otherwise not in accordance with the law" 5 U.S.C. §
706(2)(A), or "unsupported by substantial evidence,” 5 USC. 8§ 706(2)(E), we must affirm.
Furthermore, we must give deference to an administrative agency's interpretation of its
own regulations. Udall V. Tallman,(1965); Sierra Pacific Power Co. v. EPA, (9th Cir.
1981); and also, Beliwood General Hospital V. Schweiker,(1982) (administrative
interpretation of regulation by agency responsible for promulgating and administering it is
controlling unless it is plainly erroneous or inconsistent with regulation.)

It isimportant to note that in this case Ferguson's conduct is not in dispute.
Rather, it is the agency's conclusions drawn from the conduct that are at issue. Ferguson
failed to: (1) familiarize himself with the navigational chart depicting the Buffalo airport;
(2) land the aircraft himself, as required by Western Airlines Flight Operaional Manual
(15.1.2 B); (3) use navigational aids such as the VOR/DME, the Instrument Landing
System (ILS,: and the Monarch low frequency beacon associated with the ILS to identify
the airport; and (4) note visual indications that he was landing at the wrong airport.

The NTSB, affirming the FAA's interpretation of the scope of Advisory Circular
00-46B, determined that Ferguson was not entitled to a waiver of punishment under the
"inadvertent and not deliberate" provision of the circular. The NTSB also concluded from
the findings of fact that Ferguson's conduct was reckless within the meaning of Federal
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Aviation Regulation 8 91.9(14 C.F.R. 891.9). Because both issues in this case center on
agency interpretations of regulations and conclusions drawn from findings of fact, this
court will review the decison of the NTSB under the abuse of discretion standard, giving
deference to the agency's interpretation of its own regulation.

111. The SCOPE OF ADVISORY
C1RCULAR 00-46B

We first consider Ferguson'sclaim that heis entitled to a waiver of punishment
under the terms of Advisory Circular OO-46B, which was issued on June 15, 1979, and
was in effect at the time flight 44 landed a the Buffalo Airport. Unlike the two preceding
Advisory Circulars (issued on 1975 and 1976), 00-46B does not include an express
exclusion of reckless conduct from the scope of immunity. It does, however, provide for a
waiver of punishment if the violation was "inadvertent and not deliberate.”

Ferguson contends that the removal of the express exclusion of reckless conduct
from the scope of immunity evidences the intent of the FAA to waive disciplinary action
in cases where conduct was reckless so long as the conduct was also “inadvertent and not
deliberate." He also suggeds that this court should adopt what he terms a "lay
interpretation” of “inadvertent.” Under Ferguson's definition, "inadvertent” is synonymous
with not deliberate." T hus, violations that are not deliberate are also inadvertent.

NTSB responds that the history of the FAA Aviation Safety Reporting Program
(ASRP) indicates that the intent of The FAA was to limit rather than increase the number
of instances in which awaiver of punishment would be afforded. Because reckless conduct
had been expressly excluded in the past, the NTSB asserts that it would not be cong stent
with the FAA'sintent to egablish a new waiver for reckless conduct. Furthermore, the
NTSB maintains that the phrase "inadvertent and not deliberate' inherently excludes
reckless conduct.

A. The Administraive Interpretation

In 1979 the FAA Administrator promulgated an Advisory Circular which
modified the ASRP to provide for disciplinary action against violaors whenever
information about the viol ation is obtained from an independent source. 44 Fed.Reg.
18129. Waiver of punishment is granted if:

(1) The violation was inadvertent and not deliberate;

(2) Theviolation did not involve a criminal offense, or accident, or action under
section 609 of The Act which discloses alack of qualification or competency, which are
wholly excluded from this policy;

(3) The person has not been found in any prior FAA enforcement action to have
committed a violation since the initiation of the ASRP of the Federal Aviation Act or of
any regulation promulgated under that Act; and

(4) The person proves that within 10 days after the violation, he or she
completed and delivered or mailed a written report of the incident or occurrence to NASA
under ASRS. Advisory Circular 00_46B, paragraph9c(1) - 9¢(4).

Although the language of the Advisory Circular 00_46B does not expressly

Chapter 6, Page 20
Federal Regulation
© Jan. 2000 - G. Falcon



exclude reckless conduct from the scope of immunity, the FAA Administrator's notice
explains:
In addition, where atimely report isfiled, if the FAA has not initiated its
investigation within 90 days after the incident, the A dministrator will waive
the taking of disciplinary action against the person filing the report; provided
the incident does not involve reckless operations, gross negligence, willful
misconduct, a criminal offense, or an accident. 44 Fed.Reg. 18128 18129
(emphasis added).
Thus, the Administrator has determined that the circular, as presently formulated,
excludes reckless conduct from the scope of immunity.

"The administrative interpretation of aregulation by the agency responsible for
promulgating and administering itis controlling... unless it isplainly erroneous or
inconsistent with the regulation.” Immigration and Naturalization Service V. Stanisic, 395
U.S. 62, 72,89 S.Ct. 1519, 1526, 23 ~Ed.2d 101 (1969), quoting Bowles V. Seminole
Rock Co., 325 U.S. 410, 414, 65 S.Ct. 1215, 1217, 89 L.Ed. 1700 (1945)." 1llwood
General Hospital at 1044. W e first examine whether this interpretation is clearly
erroneous. An examination of the history of the ASRP revealsthat the Administrator's
interpretation of the scope of the circular is correct.

The FAA Administrator, in anotice at 44 Fed.Reg. 1812~18129 (1979),
indicated that the FAA established The ASRP in 1975 in order to obtain information that
would aid in discovering and preventing unsafe conditions in the National Aviation
System. Much of thisinformation had remained unreported because pilotsand other
involved individualsfeared disciplinary action. 1d. Therefore, the firs Advisory Circular
0046, promulgated in 1975, included a waiver of certain disciplinary actionsin return for a
timely written report. The 1975 circular, however, expressly stated that the waiver applied
"except with respect to reckless operations, criminal offenses, gross negligence, willful
misconduct and accidents.” 1d.

In 1976, The FAA Administrator modified the ASRP to provide for submission
of reports directly to the National Aeronautics and Space Administration (NASA).
Advisory Circular 00_46A (1976). The NASA system was designed to guarantee absolute
confidentiality and thus, to encourage reporting. 44 Fed.Reg. 18128 (1979). An important
provision of the 1976 circular stated that disciplinary action could not be taken against a
violator unless the FAA approached NASA to inquire about a particular incident within 45
days of its occurrence. Advisory Circular 00_46A Para. 6a(1). Reckless conduct was
expressly excepted from the provision: “Disciplinary action may be taken in such cases,
however, on the basis of information obtained independently of the A viation Safety
Report.” 1d. 16a(3). It appears, therefore, that reckless conduct was expressly excluded
from the scope of immunity if the incident involving reckless conduct was independently
reported. In keeping with the FAA's Administrator's intent to encourage reporting, an
incident involving reckless conduct could not be used for disciplinary purposes unless an
independent report was received.
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In our view the FAA, by promulgating Advisory Circular 00-46B, did not intend
to increase the number of circumstances in which waivers of punishment would apply.
Rather, the 1979 circular decreases the availability of waivers by allowing disciplinary
action when incidents are independently reported. Reckless conduct was not immune
from disciplinary action under the 1975 and 1976 circulars, and we agree with the NTSB
that the FAA did notintend to allow a waiver of punishment for reckless conduct under
the 1979 circular. Thus, we conclude that the Administrator's interpretation of the circular
is not clearly erroneous.

We next examine the language used in the 1979 circular to determine whether
the phrase "inadvertent and not deliberate” excludes reckless conduct, and is therefore
consistent with the interpretation of the A dministrator.

B. The Meaning of "Inadvertent and Not Deliberate”

Ferguson urgesthis court to conclude that the term "inadvertent” issynonymous
with "not deliberate.” In affirming the order of the ALJ, the NTSB defined the terms
"inadvertent and not deliberate” to mean not reckless. the NTSB stated:

The terms 'inadvertent' and 'not deliberate' are used in the conjunctive
(rather than disjunctive) in the A dvisory Circular. Therefore, for immunity to
apply, not only must a violation be not deliberate, it must also be inadvertent.
While it is undisputed that the violations were not deliberate, it is also clear
that, under any reasonable definition, they were not inadvertent. "Reckless"
connotes a substantially greater degree of lack of care than "inadvertence", as
exemplified by the difference between simple negligence and gross
negligence, and approaches deliberate or intentional conductin the sense of
reflecting a wanton disregard for the safety of others. Exclusion of reckless
conduct from the immunity protection of the circular is also consistent with
the history and intent of the ASRP.

Thus, in the view of the NTSB the meaning of the phrase inadvertent and not
deliberate is consistent with the FAA Administrator's interpretation of the circular. We

agree.

The parties do not dispute that Ferguson's conduct was not deliberate. Therefore,
we must determine whether his conduct was inadvertent. Ferguson, as pilot_in~command
of Western Airlines Flight 44, was required by Federal Aviation Regulations and company
policy to perform certain duties:

(1) to familiarize himself with all flight information. FAR 8§ 91.5 (14 C.F.R. §
91.6); (2) to utilize available radio navigation aids to identify the airport before landing.
Western Airlines Flight Operation M anual, |1 5.3.3.C; and (3) to land the aircraft himself
until he accumulated 100 hours as pilot_in_command of atype aircraft. Western Airlines
Flight Operation Manual 15.1.2.B. It is undisputed that he failed to comply with these
regulations.
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In each instance, Ferguson's failure to comply with the regulation was the result
of a purposeful choice. If he had thoroughly examined the navigational chart before the
flight, his hasty in_flight examination of the new route (depicted on the same chart)
might have revealed the presence of the Buffalo Airport in the same path as the
Sheridan Airport. He chose, however, not to familiarize himself with all flight information.
If he had utilized his radio navigation aids, he could have positively identified the airport.
He chose, however, not to persevere in his use of navigational ads. If hehad flown the
aircraft himself, he might have been more alert to the visual indications that he was
landing at the wrong airport. He chose, however, to allow First Officer Bastiani to land
the aircraft.

Ballentine's Law Dictionary defines "inadvertence" in the following manner:

"The word includes the effect of inattention, the result of carelessness,
oversight, mistake, or fault of negligence and the condition or character of
being inadvertent, inattentive or heedless. Gross negligence is not
inadvertence in any degree."

It is evident that an inadvertent act is one that is not the result of a purposeful
choice. Thus, a person who turns suddenly and spills a cup of coffee has acted
inadvertently. On the other hand, aperson who places a coffee cup precariously on the
edge of atable has engaged in purposeful behavior. Even though the person may not
deliberately intend the coffee to spill, the conduct is not inadvertent because it involves a
purposeful choice between two acts: Placing the cup on theedge of the table or
balancing it so that it will not spill. Likewise, a pilot acts inadvertently when he flies at an
incorrect altitude because he misreads his instruments. But his actions are not inadvertent
if he engagesin the same conduct because he chooses not to consult his instruments to
verify his altitude.

In spite of the fact that Ferguson may not have consciously intended any
particular consequences to occur asa result of his choice, he nevertheless made an election
to act as he did. We agree with the NTSB's dedision: "While it is undisputed that
Ferguson's ... violations were not deliberate, it is also clear that, under any reasonable
definition, they were not inadvertent."

Ferguson suggests that we should adopt a lay interpretation of inadvertent. In our
view alay interpretation of the phraseis consistent with a legal interpretati on. Webster's
Dictionary defines "inadvertent” as: "Not paying strict attention; failing to notice or
observe; heedless; unwary. Clearly, Ferguson's conduct cannot fall within the ambit of
this definition. A lthough his actions did not reflect the degree of deliberateness found in
intentional misconduct, neither can they be found to beinadvertent. We hold that the
NTSB did not abuse its discretion by determining that the scope of the 1979 circular does
not allow a waiver of punishment for reckless conduct, and that the phrase "inadvertent
and not deliberate" cannot encompass reckless conduct.

IV. RECKLESS CONDUCT WITHIN 8§91.9

Chapter 6, Page 23
Federal Regulation
© Jan. 2000 - G. Falcon



Federal Aviation Regulation 891.9 (14C.F.R. §91.9) states: "No person may
operate an aircraft in a careless or reckless manner so as to endanger thelife or property
of another.” The term "reckless," as used on 891.9 has been interpreted to mean "conduct
that demonstraes a grossdisregard for safety when coupled with the creation of actual
danger to life and property...." Administrator v. Understein, NT'SB Order EA 1644
(1981). Thus, in order to find that the NTSB abused its discretion, this court would need
to decide that the findings of fact do not lead to the conclusion that Ferguson's conduct
demonstrated: (1) a gross disregard for safety; and (2) a danger to life and property.

A gross disregard for safety occurs when aperson engages in conduct that shows
adisregard for foreseeable consequences. Administrator v. Understein, NTSB Order
EA_1644 (1981). Ferguson should have known that his conduct could result in harm to
the safety of his passengers. the ALJ commented that Ferguson's failure to use
navigational aids was "unjustified." Sound judgment should have dictated a verification of
the airport. the NTSB indicated that Ferguson should have known that he was landing at
the wrong air port because of the visual indications. VASI lights, which Ferguson knew
were part of the Sheridan airport, were not visible. the Sheridan Flight Service Station
relayed the information that another aircraft wasin the traffic pattern, but Ferguson did
not realize what he should have known_that he was landing at the wrong airport. Because
the consequences of Ferguson's conduct were clearly foreseeable, the conclusion of the
NTSB that Ferguson demonstrated a gross disregard for safety is not an abuse of
discretion.

There is no question that Ferguson's conduct created an actual danger to life and
property. The N'TSB suggests several events that could have occurred as a result of
Ferguson's conduct: (1) T he hard landing and subsequent hard brake application could
have caused the aircraft to swerve off the runway; (2) The landing gear could have
collapsed if it had sunk into the ground near the runway; (3) afire could have resulted if
any of the fuel tanks had ruptured; and (4) The aircraft could have struck mountanous
terrain because the flight was using the published elevation for Sheridan rather than
Buffalo. Even though no actual injury resulted, the potential endangerment is sufficient to
find reckless operation. Administrator V. Stretar, NTSB Order EA_1535(1980).

Ferguson argues that emphasis should be placed on the fact that no accident,
injury, or property damage occurred. He contends that "any act of inadvertence in light of
its potential catastrophic consequences would constitute gross negligence or reckless
conduct under the Administrator's theory." This contention isnot accurate because an act
of inadvertence, even one of potential catasgrophic consequences, would not be reckless
unless it was coupled with the requiste grossdisregard for safety.

We hold that the NTSB did not abuse its discretion in drawing the conclusion
that Ferguson should have known that he was landing at the wrong airport. Because
Ferguson's conduct had clearly foreseeable consequences, it demonstrated a gross
disregard for safety and created an actual danger to life and property. Thus, the conduct
was reckless within the meaning of §91.9.
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V. CONCLUSON
In summary, we hold that the NTSB did not abuse its discretion by determining
that the scope of Advisory Circular 00_46B does not allow a waiver of punishment for
reckless conduct, and that the phrase inadvertent and not deliberate” cannot encompass
reckless conduct. Furthermore, ~e hold that the ~ did not abuse its discretion in drawing a
conclusion from the findings of fact that Ferguson's conduct was reckless within the
meaning of Federal Aviation Regulations 891.9 (14 C.F.R. §91.9).

The decison of the NTSB is AFFIRMED.
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